

A mathematical description of the Weber nucleus as a classical and quantum mechanical system

Urs Frauenfelder¹ · Joa Weber²

Received: 17 August 2023 / Revised: 10 November 2023 / Accepted: 22 February 2024 © The Author(s) 2024

Abstract

Wilhelm Weber's electrodynamics is an action-at-a-distance theory which has the property that equal charges inside a critical radius become attractive. Weber's electrodynamics inside the critical radius can be interpreted as a classical Hamiltonian system whose kinetic energy is, however, expressed with respect to a *Lorentzian* metric. In this article we study the Schrödinger equation associated with this Hamiltonian system, and relate it to Weyl's theory of singular Sturm–Liouville problems.

Keywords Singular Sturm–Liouville theory \cdot Schrödinger equation \cdot Weyl theory: limit circle and limit point

 $\label{eq:matrix} \textit{Mathematics Subject Classification $34B24$ (SLT)} \cdot 35J10$ (Schreq.) \cdot 34B20$ (Weyl)$

Contents

1	Introduction		
	Weber electrodynamics		
	Outline and main result		
	Interpretation		
2	The classical motion		
3 Derivation of the nuclear Weber–Schrödinger equation			
	3.1 Laplace-Beltrami operator on Weber plane		
	3.2 Separation into radial and angular part		
	Angular equation for Y		
4	Inside critical radius		

 Urs Frauenfelder urs.frauenfelder@math.uni-augsburg.de
 Joa Weber joa@ime.unicamp.br

- ¹ Universität Augsburg, Augsburg, Germany
- ² Unicamp, Campinas, Brazil

4.1 Radial equation for <i>R</i> —zero angular momentum $\ell = 0$	
Singular Sturm–Liouville theory	
4.1.1 Type 'limit circle' at the origin	
4.1.2 Type 'limit circle' at the critical radius	
4.2 Equation for <i>R</i> —non-zero angular momentum $\ell \neq 0$	
4.2.1 Type 'limit circle' at the origin ($\rho = \infty$)	
4.2.2 Type 'limit circle' at the critical radius	
References	

1 Introduction

Weber electrodynamics

Wilhelm Weber's electrodynamics is a today largely forgotten action-at-a-distance theory of electrodynamics. An interesting aspect of the theory is that while opposite charges always attract each other, equal charges are repulsing each other outside a critical distance r_c , but become attracting, too, at distances smaller than r_c . This led to Weber's planetary atomic model which Weber published, among other models, posthumously [17]. A detailed account of this model can be found in [4, 5].

The history of Weber's electrodynamics indeed reminds us on a fairy tale. Wilhelm Weber is famous for his discovery together with Rudolf Kohlrausch on the connection between electrodynamics and the velocity of light. This connection appears in Weber's action at a distance theory quite different from the theory of Maxwell. How Weber's electrodynamics leads to a complementary description of the classical electrodynamical phenomena is described in the book "Weber's electrodynamics" by André Koch Torres Assis [3]. Differences occur if one considers instead of closed circuits as well open circuits. From Weber's force law Ampère's force law for current elements can be derived which allows as well transverse Ampère forces. Peter Graneau at MIT examined experimentally such phenomena as explained in the book "Newtonian Electrodynamics" he wrote jointly with his son Neal Graneau. Different from the theory of Maxwell–Lorentz in Weber's electrodynamics fields do not carry energy. For that reason Weber's Lagrangian differs as well from the Darwin Lagrangian. A phenomenon which does not have an analogon in the theory of Maxwell-Lorentz is the occurence of a critical radius at which the force between protons changes from attracting to repulsing. This is reminiscent of the Euler-Tricomi equation.

In this paper we treat the Weber nucleus from a mathematical point of view.

It is surprising that the complementary approach of Weber to electrodynamics got forgotten. Wilhelm Weber and Hermann von Helmholtz didn't get along with each other. Helmholtz studied vortices which led to the theory of vortex atoms of Lord Kelvin. These vortex atoms had a great impact on the development of knot theory in mathematics but as well are the reason for one of the most absurd stories in the history of physics. Felix Klein blamed himself in his book "Geschichte der Mathematik im 19. Jahrhundert" for having explained to Karl Friedrich Zöllner, a phanatic admirer of Wilhelm Weber, that every knot in four dimensions can be unknotted. In order to disprove the theory of vortex atoms Zöllner tried with the help of a spiritualist medium to prove the existence of a fourth dimension. The elderly Wilhelm Weber participated as well at these spiritualist sessions and his complementary theory got forgotten in Europe soon. It was different in the US. A famous person which concerned himself with Weber's electrodynamics is Vannevar Bush, the Science advisor of president Roosevelt, or the above mentioned Peter Graneau.

Given a positive charge at the center, the Weber Lagrangian, see [15, 18], for a second positive charge influenced by the one in the center is given in polar coordinates by the formula

$$L_{W}(r, \phi, v_{r}, v_{\phi}) = \frac{1}{2}(v_{r}^{2} + r^{2}v_{\phi}^{2}) - \frac{1}{r}\left(1 + \frac{v_{r}^{2}}{2c^{2}}\right)$$

where c is the speed of light. The first term is just the usual kinetic energy, but the second term describes a velocity dependent potential. Historically this led to a lot of confusion, in particular, Helmholtz doubted, because of the velocity dependent potential, that energy is preserved. That energy is preserved can easily be seen by changing brackets

$$L_{W}(r, \phi, v_{r}, v_{\phi}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{c^{2}r} \right) v_{r}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} r^{2} v_{\phi}^{2} - \frac{1}{r}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(g_{rr} v_{r}^{2} + g_{\phi\phi} v_{\phi}^{2} \right) - \frac{1}{r}.$$
(1.1)

Now the potential does not depend on the velocity any more. But the kinetic part is not computed with respect to the flat metric. In fact, the metric gets singular at a critical radius, the Weber radius

$$r_{c} = 1/c^{2}$$

where c is the speed of light. Outside the critical radius the metric is Riemannian, while inside it becomes Lorentzian.

Although the changing of brackets is mathematically trivial, the interpretation of Weber's Lagrangian as a velocity independent Coulomb potential in a curved Lorentzian or Riemannian space seems to be first discussed in our previous paper [6]. This interpretation finally opens the door to actually write down a Schrödinger equation for the Weber nucleus, namely by replacing the kinetic part by the Laplace-Beltrami operator but now *with respect to the Lorentzian metric*. The discussion of the properties of the Schrödinger equation is the topic of the present paper.

Outline and main result

In Sect. 2 we study the classical motion. In particular, we see that inside the Weber nucleus there are no periodic orbits, but instead the trajectories start spiraling into the origin (the collision locus).

In Sect. 3 the Lorentzian interpretation of Weber's Lagrangian, given by formula (1.1), enables us to find the Schrödinger equation for Weber electrodynamics by replacing the Lorentzian kinetic energy by its Laplace-Beltrami operator. In Sect. 3.2 we separate the wave function into the radial and the angular part. In Sect. 4 we show that inside the critical radius the radial part satisfies a singular Sturm–Liouville problem with singularities at both ends, one due to the charge at the origin where the potential is singular, and one due to the critical radius where the Lorentz metric is singular.

The classical study of singular Sturm–Liouville problems is due to Hermann Weyl and his famous discovery [20] of a dichotomy between the two cases of limit circle and limit point. Weyl's theory was further developed in Titchmarsh's monograph [14]. If both ends are limit point the corresponding Schrödinger operator is self-adjoint, while in the case of limit circle an additional boundary condition has to be chosen [12, Chap. X §3 pp 448]. The main result of this article is

Theorem A The radial part of Schrödinger's equation of the Weber nucleus is limit circle at both ends of $(0, r_c)$, namely at the origin r = 0 and at the critical radius $r = r_c$.

Theorem A is proved in Sect.4. The case of zero angular momentum $\ell = 0$ is Proposition 4.2. The case of non-zero angular momentum $\ell \neq 0$ is Proposition 4.4.

The proof of Theorem A differs greatly in the case of zero angular momentum $\ell = 0$ and non-zero angular momentum $\ell \neq 0$. This is due to the fact that for vanishing angular momentum the singularity at the origin r = 0 is regular and therefore the corresponding ode Fuchsian, see e.g. [13, §4.2], while for non-vanishing angular momentum the singularity at r = 0 is irregular. See [11, Ch.5 §4] for the notions of *regular* and *irregular singularities* of an ode. In the irregular case the behavior close to the singularity is described by a diverging asymptotic series and the solutions start oscillating wildly.

Interpretation

What do we learn from Theorem A and its proof? It is interesting to compare the quantum solutions with the classical solutions. In fact, there are no periodic orbits in the Weber nucleus before regularization. According to Gutzwiller's trace formula, cf. [7], there should be a relation between the classical periodic orbits and the treatment by Schrödinger's equation. In view of Theorem A the Schrödinger operator is not self-adjoint, unless one assigns adequate boundary conditions; see [12, Ch. X §3]. Here one discovers an interesting difference between the cases of vanishing and non-vanishing angular momentum.

If the angular momentum *vanishes*, the singularity at the origin is regular. In this case it is possible to assign natural boundary conditions; see [8, Kap.3 §7]. In fact, a similar phenomenon happened already for the classical hydrogen atom in case of vanishing angular momentum; see [8, Kap.3 §9]. For the Weber nucleus the classical solutions for vanishing angular momentum are collisions. Collisions can be regularized so that one obtains periodic orbits.

For *non-vanishing* angular momentum the singularity at the origin is not regular. Close to the origin the eigenfunctions of the Schrödinger equation, for any choice of boundary condition, start oscillating wildly. In this case it is not clear how to put natural boundary conditions. On the classical side a similar phenomenon happens. Namely, for non-vanishing angular momentum the classical solutions start spiraling into the origin. In this case it is not clear how to regularize them.

It would be interesting to find a semi-classical interpretation, see [7], of this phenomenon which makes the Weber nucleus an intriguing dynamical system worth of further explorations.

2 The classical motion

Before we embark on the quantum mechanical treatment of the Weber nucleus we discuss its classical motion, see also [16] and [4, 5, §6.4].

As we explained in the introduction the relative motion of two equal charges is described in polar coordinates (r, ϕ) by the Weber Lagrangian $L = L_W$ in (1.1), that is

$$L(r, \phi, v_r, v_{\phi}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{r - r_c}{r} v_r^2 + r^2 v_{\phi}^2 \right) - \frac{1}{r}$$

where c is the speed of light and the critical radius

$$r_c := 1/c^2$$

is called the Weber radius. Note that the metric describing the kinetic energy is Riemannian above the critical radius, and Lorentz below. The conjugate momenta are

$$p_r := \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{r}} = \left(1 - \frac{1}{c^2 r}\right) \dot{r} = \left(\frac{r - r_c}{r}\right) \dot{r}, \qquad p_\phi := \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{\phi}} = r^2 \dot{\phi}.$$

The Euler-Lagrange equation $\frac{d}{dt}\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{\phi}} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \phi}$, namely $\dot{p}_{\phi} = 0$, yields conservation of *angular momentum*

$$\ell := r^2 \dot{\phi} = p_\phi = \text{const}$$

while $\frac{d}{dt} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{r}} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial r}$, namely $\frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{r-r_c}{r} \right) \cdot \dot{r} + \left(\frac{r-r_c}{r} \right) \ddot{r} =$, becomes

$$\left(\frac{1}{c^2} - 1\right)\ddot{r} = \frac{\dot{r}^2}{2c^2r^2} - \frac{\ell^2}{r^3} - \frac{1}{r^2}.$$

Note that the factor $\frac{1}{c^2} - 1 = \frac{r_c - r}{r}$ in front of \ddot{r} is positive below the critical radius, and negative above. The Euler-Lagrange equations are equivalent to Hamilton's equations for the *Weber Hamiltonian*

$$H(r,\phi, p_r, p_{\phi}) = p_r \dot{r} + p_{\phi} \dot{\phi} - L = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{(r-r_c)\dot{r}^2}{r} + \frac{\ell^2}{r^2} \right) + \frac{1}{r}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{rp_r^2}{r-r_c} + \frac{p_{\phi}^2}{r^2} \right) + \frac{1}{r}.$$
 (2.2)

angular momentum	classical solutions	quantum solutions
$\ell = 0$	collisions (regularizable)	non-oscillating (natural boundary conditions exist)
$\ell \neq 0$	spiraling (not regularizable)	oscillating (no natural boundary conditions exist)

Fig. 1 Interpretation of results-classical and quantum solution types



Fig. 2 Radial component case 1—Energy $h \le 0$

To determine the motions, we rewrite the conservation of energy equation

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{(r - r_c)\dot{r}^2}{r} + \frac{\ell^2}{r^2} \right) + \frac{1}{r} = h = \text{const}$$

as

$$\dot{r}^2 = \frac{\ell^2 + 2r - 2hr^2}{r(r_c - r)}.$$
(2.3)

In the following we only discuss the radial component r, not the angular component ϕ which in case that the angular momentum $\ell := r^2 \dot{\phi}$ does not vanish is responsible for the spiraling mentioned in Fig. 1.

Case 1: $h \le 0$ -Fig. 2. Then the enumerator in equation (2.3) is positive, so there are no solutions with $r > r_c$. For $r < r_c$ equation (2.3) implies that $\dot{r}^2 > 2/r_c$ is bounded away from 0. Thus the solutions move in finite time between the poles at 0 and r_c .

Taking advantage of the fact that the velocity at the origin and at the critical radius even explodes, we can give a more refined analysis as follows. Consider first the approach to r_c . For $r < r_c$ close to r_c we have approximately

$$\dot{r} \approx \pm \frac{k}{\sqrt{r_c - r}}$$

with $k = \sqrt{\ell^2/r_c + 2 - 2hr_c} > 0$. The solution of the ODE $\dot{r} = \pm k/\sqrt{r_c - r}$ with initial condition $r(0) = r_0 < r_c$ close to r_c is given by

$$r(t) = r_c - \left((r_c - r_0)^{3/2} \mp \frac{3}{2} kt \right)^{2/3}.$$

Note that the solution can be continued continuously (but not C^1) beyond time T, of collision with the origin, to bounce back at r_c and move toward the origin r = 0. In contrast, it has yet not been studied if there is a geometric regularization at the origin r = 0.

Consider next the approach to r = 0. Suppose first that $\ell \neq 0$. Then for r > 0 close to 0 we have approximately

$$\dot{r} \approx \pm \frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}$$
 (2.4)

with $k = \sqrt{\ell^2/r_c} > 0$. The solution of $\dot{r} = \pm \frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}$ with initial condition $r(0) = r_0 > 0$ close to 0 is given by

$$r(t) = \left(r_0^{3/2} \pm \frac{3}{2}kt\right)^{2/3},$$

which approaches 0 in finite (positive or negative) time *T*. Note that the solution can be continued continuously (but not C^1) beyond time *T* to bounce back at 0 and move toward the critical radius r_c .

If $\ell = 0$, then for r > 0 close to 0 we have approximately

$$\dot{r} \approx \pm \sqrt{2/r_c} = \pm \sqrt{2} c,$$

so the solution approaches 0 in finite time with approximately constant speed $\sqrt{2}c$ (the *Weber constant*). Note that the solution can be continued continuously (but not C^1) beyond time *T*, of collision with the origin,

Case 2: h > 0. Then equation (2.3) can be written as

$$\dot{r}^2 = \frac{2h(r-r_+)(r-r_-)}{r(r-r_c)}, \quad \text{with} \quad r_{\pm}(\ell) = \frac{1 \pm \sqrt{1+2h\ell^2}}{2h}.$$
 (2.5)

Since $r_+ > \frac{1}{h} > 0$ and $r_- \le 0$, we need to distinguish the three subcases $r_+ < r_c$, $r_+ = r_c$ and $r_+ > r_c$. Note that $r_+ < r_c$ is equivalent to $h > h_c$ for the *critical energy*

$$h_c = V_{\rm eff}(r_c) = \frac{\ell^2}{2r_c^2} + \frac{1}{r_c},$$
 (2.6)

where $V_{\rm eff}(r) = \ell^2/2r^2 + 1/r$ is the effective potential.



Fig. 3 Case 2a—Energy $h \le 0$ and $r_+ \in (0, r_c)$

Case 2a: $r_+ < r_c$ (or equivalently $h > h_c$)-Fig. 3. Then the right hand side in equation (2.5) is negative for $r \in (r_+, r_c)$, so solutions cannot enter this region. Solutions in the region $(0, r_+)$ move in finite time between 0 and r_+ .

To see this, consider first the approach to r_+ . For $r < r_+$ close to r_+ we have approximately

$$\dot{r} \approx \pm k \sqrt{r_+ - r}$$

with $k = \sqrt{2h(r_+ - r_-)/r_+(r_c - r_+)} > 0$. Thus the solution with initial condition $r(0) = r_0 < r_+$ close to r_+ is approximately given by

$$r(t) = r_{+} - \left((r_{+} - r_{0})^{1/2} \mp \frac{1}{2} kt \right)^{2},$$

which approaches r_+ in finite (positive or negative) time T at speed zero. Note that the solution can be continued *smoothly* beyond time T to reflect back at r_+ and move toward the origin r = 0.

Consider next the approach to r = 0. Suppose first that $\ell \neq 0$, and thus $r_{-} < 0$. Then for r > 0 close to 0 we have approximately, cf. (2.4),

$$\dot{r} \approx \pm \frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}$$

with $k = \sqrt{-2hr_+r_-/r_c} > 0$, so the solution approaches 0 in finite time as in Case 1. If $\ell = 0$, then for r > 0 close to 0 we have approximately (Case 1 again)

$$\dot{r} \approx \pm \sqrt{2hr_+/r_c} = \pm \sqrt{2}c,$$

so the solution reaches 0 in finite time with approximately constant speed $\sqrt{2c}$.

Solutions in the region (r_c, ∞) approach r_c in finite (positive or negative) time (similarly to the approach to r_c in Case 1). In the other time direction they move to ∞ with asymptotic speed $\sqrt{2h}$ (since the right hand side in (2.5) converges to 2h as $r \to \infty$).

Case 2b: $r_+ > r_c$ (or equivalently $h < h_c$)-Fig. 4. Then the right hand side in equation (2.5) is negative for $r \in (r_c, r_+)$, so solutions cannot enter this region. Solutions in the region $(0, r_c)$ move in finite time between 0 and r_c as in Case 1







Fig. 5 Case 2c—Energy $h \le 0$ and $r_+ = r_c$

above. Solutions in the region (r_+, ∞) approach r_+ at speed zero in finite (positive or negative) time (where they reflect back smoothly similarly to the approach to r_+ in Case 2a), while in the other time direction they again move to ∞ with asymptotic speed $\sqrt{2h}$.

Case 2c: $r_+ = r_c$ (or equivalently $h = h_c$)-Fig. 5. Then (2.5) simplifies to $\dot{r}^2 = 2h(1 - \frac{r_-}{r}) \ge 2h > 0$, so solutions approach 0 in finite (positive or negative) time with infinite speed $(\ell \neq 0)$ or finite speed $\sqrt{2h}$ ($\ell = 0$), while in the other time direction they move to ∞ with asymptotic speed $\sqrt{2h}$. In particular, this is the only case in which solutions pass through the critical radius.

We summarize this discussion in

Theorem 2.1 The relative motion of two equal charges in the plane under their mutual Weber force is as follows, depending on their energy h compared to the critical energy h_c .

- **1** For $h \le 0$ solutions inside the critical radius r_c move in finite time between 0 and r_c , and there are no solutions outside the critical radius.
- **2b** For $0 < h < h_c$ solutions inside the critical radius move in finite time between 0 and r_c , while solutions outside the critical radius move to ∞ as $t \to \pm \infty$ without reaching r_c .
- **2a** For $h > h_c$ solutions inside the critical radius move to 0 in finite time in both time directions without reaching r_c , while solutions outside the critical radius move to r_c in finite time in one time direction and to ∞ in infinite time in the other time direction.
- **2c** For $h = h_c$ solutions move to 0 in finite time in one time direction and to ∞ in infinite time in the other time direction; in particular, this is the only case in which solutions pass through the critical radius.

3 Derivation of the nuclear Weber–Schrödinger equation

Let $r_c = 1/c^2$ be the Weber radius and let

$$\mathbb{R}_{\times} := (0,\infty) \setminus \{r_c\}, \qquad \mathbb{R}^2_{\times} := \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0, x^2 + y^2 = r_c^2\}$$

be the *Weber "half line"* and "*plane"*, respectively. In polar coordinates $(r, \phi) \in \mathbb{R}_{\times} \times \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ on \mathbb{R}^2_{\times} the Weber metric and cometric are the diagonal matrizes

$$(g_{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{r-r_c}{r} & 0\\ 0 & r^2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (g^{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{r}{r-r_c} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{r^2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.7)

The entries are the coefficients in the Weber Lagrangian (1.1) and Hamiltonian (2.2), respectively. The Weber plane is the Riemannian manifold (\mathbb{R}^2_{\times} , g).

3.1 Laplace-Beltrami operator on Weber plane

The Laplace-Beltrami operator applied to a function f is in local coordinates of any domain manifold given by

$$\Delta f = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|g|}} \partial_i \left(\sqrt{|g|} g^{ij} \partial_j f \right)$$

where $|g| := |\det g|$ and the Einstein sum convention applies.

Lemma 3.1 The Laplace-Beltrami operator in polar coordinates acts by

$$\Delta f = \frac{\partial_r \left(r^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{|r - r_c|^{\frac{1}{2}}}{r - r_c} \partial_r f \right)}{\sqrt{r \, |r - r_c|}} + \frac{1}{r^2} \, \partial_{\phi\phi} f$$

$$= \left(\frac{3}{2} \frac{1}{r - r_c} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{r}{(r - r_c)^2} \right) \partial_r f + \frac{r}{r - r_c} \, \partial_{rr} f + \frac{1}{r^2} \, \partial_{\phi\phi} f$$
(3.8)

on functions f on the Weber plane $(\mathbb{R}^2_{\times}, g)$.

Proof With $|g| = r |r - r_c|$ and due to the diagonal form of g we obtain

$$\Delta f = \frac{\partial_r \left(\sqrt{r |r - r_c|} \frac{r}{r - r_c} \partial_r f\right) + \partial_\phi \left(\sqrt{r |r - r_c|} \frac{1}{r^2} \partial_\phi f\right)}{\sqrt{r |r - r_c|}}$$
$$= \frac{\partial_r \left(\sqrt{r |r - r_c|} \frac{r}{r - r_c}\right) \cdot \partial_r f + \left(\sqrt{r |r - r_c|} \frac{r}{r - r_c}\right) \partial_{rr} f}{\sqrt{r |r - r_c|}} + \frac{1}{r^2} \partial_{\phi\phi} f.$$

It remains to calculate the term $\partial_r(\ldots)$, namely

$$\frac{\partial_r \left(r^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{|r-r_c|^{\frac{1}{2}}}{r-r_c} \right)}{\sqrt{r |r-r_c|}} = \frac{\frac{3}{2} r^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{r-r_c}{|r-r_c|^{\frac{3}{2}}} + r^{\frac{3}{2}} (-\frac{1}{2}) \frac{1}{|r-r_c|^{\frac{3}{2}}}}{r^{\frac{1}{2}} |r-r_c|^{\frac{1}{2}}} = \frac{3}{2} \frac{1}{r-r_c} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{r}{(r-r_c)^2}$$
(3.9)

and this proves the lemma.

3.2 Separation into radial and angular part

On the Weber plane $(\mathbb{R}^2_{\times}, g)$ with coordinates (r, ϕ) consider the Laplace-Beltrami operator Δ given by (3.8). The Schrödinger equation is the pde

$$-\frac{1}{2}\Delta\psi + \frac{1}{r}\psi = E\psi \tag{3.10}$$

for complex-valued functions $\psi : \mathbb{R}^2_{\times} \to \mathbb{C}$ and reals *E*. Separation of variables

$$\psi(r,\phi) = R(r)Y(\phi)$$

and abbreviating $\dot{R} := \partial_r R$ and $Y' := \partial_\phi Y$ translates Schrödinger's equation to

$$-\frac{Y}{2} \frac{\partial_r \left(r^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{|r-r_c|^{\frac{1}{2}}}{r-r_c} \partial_r R \right)}{\sqrt{r |r-r_c|}} - \frac{R}{2} \frac{1}{r^2} Y'' + \frac{1}{r} RY = ERY.$$

Multiply this equation by $\frac{r^2}{RY}$ and reorder to obtain

$$-\frac{r^2}{2R}\frac{\partial_r \left(r^{\frac{3}{2}}\frac{|r-r_c|^{\frac{1}{2}}}{r-r_c}\partial_r R\right)}{\sqrt{r|r-r_c|}} + r - r^2 E = \frac{1}{2}\frac{Y''}{Y}.$$
(3.11)

Note that the left hand side, a function of r only, is in fact constant, because the right hand side does not depend on r. Analogously the right hand side, a function of ϕ only, is equal to a constant, say $-\ell$.

Angular equation for Y

The right hand side (RHS) of (3.11) is equal to a constant, say $-\ell$, hence

$$Y''(\phi) = -2\ell Y(\phi).$$

The ode has a solution $Y(\phi) = ce^{i\sqrt{2\ell}\phi}$ for $c \in \mathbb{R}$. Periodicity $Y(\phi) = Y(\phi + 2\pi)$ tells that $e^{2\pi i\sqrt{2\ell}} = 1$ or equivalently $\sqrt{2\ell} = k \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Thus

$$Y(\phi) = ce^{ik\phi}, \qquad c \in \mathbb{R}, \quad k = \sqrt{2\ell} \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
(3.12)

4 Inside critical radius

4.1 Radial equation for *R*—zero angular momentum $\ell = 0$

The left hand side (LHS) of (3.11) is equal to a constant $-\ell = -\frac{k^2}{2}$ where $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Multiplication by $\frac{-R}{r^2}$ leads to the ode

$$\frac{\frac{\partial_r \left(r^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{|r-r_c|^{\frac{1}{2}}}{r-r_c} \partial_r R \right)}{2\sqrt{r |r-r_c|}} - \frac{1}{r} R - \frac{\ell}{r^2} R = -ER$$

for functions $R : \mathbb{R}_{\times} \to \mathbb{C}$ of the variable *r* and a constant $E \in \mathbb{R}$. From now on we focus on the region inside the critical radius, because there our two protons have the property – spectacular when contrasted with the mainstream Coulomb law – to attract each other thanks to the Weber force law. Because $r - r_c < 0$ is negative, abbreviating $\dot{R} := \partial_r R$ the ode becomes

$$ER = \frac{\partial_r \left(\frac{r^{\frac{3}{2}}}{\sqrt{r_c - r}} \partial_r R\right)}{2\sqrt{r(r_c - r)}} + \frac{1}{r}R + \frac{\ell}{r^2}R$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}\frac{r}{r_c - r}\ddot{R} + \left(\frac{3}{4}\frac{1}{r_c - r} + \frac{1}{4}\frac{r}{(r_c - r)^2}\right)\dot{R} + \frac{1}{r}R + \frac{\ell}{r^2}R$$
(4.13)

where $\ell = k^2/2$ for any given $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, see (3.12). Alternatively, this ode for the unkown function $R: (0, r_c) \to \mathbb{C}$ takes on the Sturm–Liouville normal form

$$\left(p\dot{R}\right)^{\cdot} + qR = wER \tag{4.14}$$

where \dot{c} means $\frac{d}{dr}$ and where in case $\ell = 0$ the functions w, q, p are given by

$$w = 2\sqrt{r(r_c - r)}, \quad q = 2\sqrt{\frac{r_c - r}{r}} = \frac{w}{r}, \quad p = \frac{r^{\frac{3}{2}}}{\sqrt{r_c - r}} = \frac{2r}{q} = \frac{2r^2}{w}.$$

Singular Sturm–Liouville theory

A Sturm–Liouville problem of the form (4.14) on a closed interval $[0, r_c]$ is called regular if the coefficient $p: [0, r_c] \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous and non-vanishing function, the coefficient $w: [0, r_c] \to (0, \infty)$ is continuous and positive, and $q: [0, r_c] \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous. If at the boundary of the interval $[0, r_c]$ at least one of the coefficients p, q, or w becomes infinite or p or w approach zero, then the Sturm–Liouville problem is called singular.

For singular Sturm–Liouville problems Weyl introduced in [20] a dichotomy into *limit circle* and *limit point*. Given an end point 0 or r_c , the singular Sturm–Liouville problem is called limit circle if all solutions of the homogeneous problem

$$(p\dot{R})^{\cdot} + qR = 0$$
 (4.15)

close to the given end point are of class L^2 . Otherwise, the problem is called limit point. For more information see e.g. [1, p. 277], [9, XII.3], or [10, III §1].

Remark 4.1 (Sturm–Liouville theory) Later, in Sect. 4.2, when we deal with the case of non-zero angular momentum ($\ell \neq 0$) we will encounter special cases of Sturm–Liouville equations—Bessel equations. Excellent accounts of the history of Sturm–Liouville theory, surveys, and even a catalogue can be found in the collection of papers [1, p. 277]. We recommend these papers for further references. Without the extensive tables and property lists in [2, §9] one would get nowhere, in finite time, in Sect. 4.2.

The main result of this Sect. 4.1 is the

Proposition 4.2 (Zero angular momentum – limit circle on $(0, r_c)$) The singular Sturm–Liouville problem given by the 1-dimensional Weber Schrödinger equation (4.17) on the interval $(0, r_c)$ is

a) limit circle at the left origin boundary singularity 0;

b) limit circle at the right critical radius boundary singularity r_c .

Proof a) Sect. 4.1.1. b) Sect. 4.1.2.

4.1.1 Type 'limit circle' at the origin

For non-zero angular momentum ($\ell \neq 0$) already the classical solutions behave not nicely inside the critical radius, they spiral into the origin singularity, cf. Theorem 2.1. So in a first step to prove Theorem A we restrict to the case of angular momentum $\ell = 0$. As mentioned above we consider the region inside the critical radius $r_c := \frac{1}{c^2}$, in symbols $r \in (0, r_c)$.

In the following we show that for zero angular momentum ($\ell = 0$) the singular Sturm–Liouville problem (4.13) on (0, r_c), equivalently (4.14), is of type *limit circle* at the boundary singularity r = 0.

Remark 4.3 The property limit circle does not depend on the choice of the constant E; see e.g. [9, Thm. XII.3.2] or [10, III Le. 1.1]. Thus we choose E = 0. By [10, p. 22] limit circle at a boundary singularity r_* is equivalent to not being limit point at r_* which, by [10, Rmk. on p. 23], is equivalent to all solutions being L^2 near r_* .

SETUP (CASE E = 0). Equation (4.13) for $\ell = 0$, multiplied by $\frac{2(r_c - r)}{r}$, gets

$$\ddot{R} + \left(\frac{3}{2}\frac{1}{r} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{r_c - r}\right)\dot{R} + 2\frac{r_c - r}{r^2}R = 0$$
(4.16)

or, equivalently, after reordering¹

$$\ddot{R} + \frac{3}{2r}\dot{R} + \frac{2r_c}{r^2}R = \underbrace{-\frac{1}{2(r_c - r)}\dot{R} + \frac{2}{r}R}_{=:b}.$$
(4.17)

STEP 1 (HOMOGENEOUS EQUATION). First let us solve equation (4.17) in case the RHS *b* is zero: The Ansatz $f(r) := r^k$ leads to $k^2 + \frac{1}{2}k + 2r_c = 0$, hence

$$k_1 = -\frac{1}{4} - \sqrt{\frac{1}{16} - 2r_c} \stackrel{>}{\approx} -\frac{1}{2}, \quad k_2 = -\frac{1}{4} + \sqrt{\frac{1}{16} - 2r_c} \stackrel{<}{\approx} 0.$$

So $2k_i > -1$ for i = 1, 2. Thus two solutions of (4.17) for b = 0 are given by

$$u(r) := r^{k_1}, \quad v(r) := r^{k_2}$$

and they are L^2 near 0 since $2k_i > -1$. It is useful to calculate the sums

$$k_2 + k_1 = -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad k_2 - k_1 = \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} - 8r_c}.$$

and the Wronskian

$$W = W(r) := u\dot{v} - \dot{u}v = (k_2 - k_1)r^{k_2 + k_1 - 1} = (k_2 - k_1)r^{-\frac{3}{2}}.$$

Observe that the product $r^{\frac{3}{2}}W(r) = k_2 - k_1$ is a constant. STEP 2 (INHOMOGENEOUS EQUATION). Given constants $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, abbreviate $r_0 := r_c/2$, then the solution *R* to (4.17) with

$$R(r_0) = \alpha u(r_0) + \beta v(r_0), \qquad \dot{R}(r_0) = \alpha \dot{u}(r_0) + \beta \dot{v}(r_0)$$
(4.18)

¹ Multiplication of (4.17) by $r^{\frac{3}{2}}$ provides the Sturm–Liouville normal form

$$\left(r^{\frac{3}{2}}\dot{R}\right)' + \frac{2r_c}{r^{\frac{1}{2}}}R = \underbrace{-\frac{1}{2}\frac{r^{\frac{3}{2}}}{r_c - r}\dot{R} + 2r^{\frac{1}{2}}R}_{=r^{\frac{3}{2}}b}.$$

is given by the formula (see e.g. [9, Exc. IV.5.3 p. 81])

$$\begin{split} R(r) &:= \alpha u(r) + \beta v(r) + \int_{r_0}^r \frac{u(s)v(r) - u(r)v(s)}{s^{3/2} W(s)} s^{3/2} b(s) \, ds \\ &= \frac{1}{\alpha} ar^{k_1} + \beta r^{k_2} + \int_{r_0}^r \frac{s^{k_1} r^{k_2} - r^{k_1} s^{k_2}}{k_2 - k_1} \left(-\frac{1}{2} \frac{s^{\frac{3}{2}}}{r_c - s} \, \dot{R} + s^{\frac{1}{2}} 2R \right) ds \\ &= \frac{2}{\alpha} ar^{k_1} + \beta r^{k_2} - \int_{r}^{r_0} \frac{s^{-k_2} r^{k_2} - r^{k_1} s^{-k_1}}{k_2 - k_1} \, 2R \, ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{r}^{r_0} \frac{s^{-k_2} r^{k_2} - r^{k_1} s^{-k_1}}{k_2 - k_1} \frac{s}{r_c - s} \, \dot{R} \, ds \\ &= \frac{3}{\alpha} ar^{k_1} + \beta r^{k_2} - \int_{r}^{r_0} \frac{(r/s)^{k_2} - (r/s)^{k_1}}{k_2 - k_1} \, 2R(s) \, ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \frac{(r/r_0)^{k_2} - (r/r_0)^{k_1}}{k_2 - k_1} \frac{r_0}{r_c - r_0} \, R(r_0) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{r}^{r_0} \frac{k_2(r/s)^{k_2} - k_1(r/s)^{k_1}}{k_2 - k_1} \frac{1}{r_c - s} \, R(s) \, ds \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \int_{r}^{r_0} \frac{(r/s)^{k_2} - (r/s)^{k_1}}{k_2 - k_1} \frac{r_c}{r_c - s)^2} \, R(s) \, ds \end{split}$$

for every $r \in (0, r_0]$. Step 1 uses definition (4.17) of b, in step 2 we interchange limits of integration and catch a minus sign, and step 3 is by partial integration. Consider the L^2 functions on $(0, r_0]$, where $r_0 := \frac{r_c}{2}$, given by

$$h_1(r) := \tilde{\alpha} r^{k_1} + \tilde{\beta} r^{k_2}, \qquad h_2(r) := \gamma r^{k_1} + \delta r^{k_2}$$

where the constants are defined by

$$\tilde{\alpha} := |\alpha| + \frac{r_0 R(r_0)}{2r_0^{k_1} (k_2 - k_1)(r_c - r_0)}, \quad \tilde{\beta} := |\beta| + \frac{r_0 R(r_0)}{2r_0^{k_2} (k_2 - k_1)(r_c - r_0)}$$

and

$$\gamma := 2\frac{r_0^{-k_1}}{k_2 - k_1} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{k_1 r_0^{-k_1}}{k_2 - k_1}\frac{2}{r_c} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{r_0^{-k_1}}{k_2 - k_1}\frac{4}{r_c}$$

and

$$\delta := 2 \frac{r_0^{-k_2}}{k_2 - k_1} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{k_1 r_0^{-k_2}}{k_2 - k_1} \frac{2}{r_c} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{r_0^{-k_2}}{k_2 - k_1} \frac{4}{r_c}.$$

With the L^2 functions h_1 and h_2 on $(0, r_0]$ we get from (4.19), using $\frac{1}{r_c - s} \leq \frac{2}{r_c}$ and Cauchy-Schwarz, the estimate

$$|R(r)| \le h_1(r) + h_2(r) \int_r^{r_0} |R(s)| \, ds$$

= $h_1(r) + h_2(r) ||R \cdot 1||_1(r)$
 $\le h_1(r) + h_2(r) ||R||_2(r) \cdot \sqrt{r_0}$ (4.20)

for every $r \in (0, r_0]$, note that $\sqrt{r_0} \le 1$, and where

$$||R||_p(r) := \left(\int_r^{r_0} |R(s)|^p ds\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

for $p \ge 1$ and $r \in (0, r_0]$. Taking squares we get that

$$R(r)^{2} \leq h_{1}(r)^{2} + 2h_{1}(r)h_{2}(r) ||R||_{2}(r) + h_{2}(r)^{2} ||R||_{2}(r)^{2}$$

$$\leq 2h_{1}(r)^{2} + 2h_{2}(r)^{2} ||R||_{2}(r)^{2}$$

for every $r \in (0, r_0]$. Therefore

$$\underbrace{\|R\|_{2}(r)^{2}}_{=:U(r)} := \int_{r}^{r_{0}} R(s)^{2} ds$$

$$\leq 2 \int_{r}^{r_{0}} h_{1}(s)^{2} ds + 2 \int_{r}^{r_{0}} h_{2}(s)^{2} \|R\|_{2}(s)^{2} ds$$

$$= \underbrace{2\|h_{1}\|_{2}(r)^{2}}_{\leq 2\|h_{1}\|_{2}^{2} =:\alpha} + \int_{r}^{r_{0}} \underbrace{2h_{2}(s)^{2}}_{=:\beta(s)} \underbrace{\|R\|_{2}(s)^{2}}_{=U(s)} ds$$

for every $r \in (0, r_0]$ where $||h_1||_2 := ||h_1||_{L^2(0, r_0)} < \infty$. So by Gronwall's lemma

$$\underbrace{\|R\|_2(r)^2}_{U(r)} \le \underbrace{2\|h_1\|_2^2}_{\alpha} \exp\left(\int_r^{r_0} \underbrace{2h_2(s)^2}_{\beta(s)} ds\right) \le 2\|h_1\|_2^2 e^{2\|h_2\|_2^2} =: \gamma$$

for every $r \in (0, r_0]$. Thus $||R||_2^2 \le \gamma$. This shows that any solution *R* of (4.17), independent of the choice of initial conditions (4.18), is L^2 near the boundary singularity 0. By Remark 4.3 this proves part a) in Proposition 4.2.

4.1.2 Type 'limit circle' at the critical radius

To prove Proposition 4.2 b) it suffices to treat the case E = 0 by Remark 4.3.

SETUP (CASE E = 0). Reordering (4.16) for singularities $\frac{1}{r-r_c}$ we get the ode

$$\ddot{R} + \frac{1}{2(r_c - r)} \dot{R} + \frac{3}{2r} \dot{R} = \underbrace{-\frac{r_c - r}{r^2} 2R}_{=:b}$$
(4.21)

for functions *R* on $[r_0, r_c)$ where $r_0 := \frac{r_c}{2}$.

STEP 1 (HOMOGENEOUS EQUATION). First let us solve equation (4.21) in case the RHS b = 0 is zero: Two solutions of (4.21) for b = 0 are given by²

$$u(r) \equiv 1, \quad v(r) := \int_{r_0}^r s^{-3/2} \sqrt{r_c - s} \, ds$$
 (4.22)

and

$$W(r) := u\dot{v} - \dot{u}v = \dot{v} = r^{-3/2}\sqrt{r_c - r}.$$

is their Wronskian. Since $r_c - r_0 = r_c/2$ we get that the function

$$|v(r)| \le (r_c - r_0) r_0^{-3/2} \sqrt{r_c - r_0} = 1$$

is bounded, hence L^2 , on the interval $[r_0, r_c)$.

STEP 2 (INHOMOGENEOUS EQUATION). Given constants $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, the solution *R* to (4.21) with initial conditions

$$R(r_0) = \alpha u(r_0) + \beta v(r_0), \qquad \dot{R}(r_0) = \alpha \dot{u}(r_0) + \beta \dot{v}(r_0)$$
(4.23)

is given for $r \in [r_0, r_c)$ by the definition in (4.19). On $[r_0, r_c)$ we estimate

$$\begin{aligned} |R(r)| &\leq |\alpha| \cdot 1 + |\beta| \cdot 1 + \left| \int_{r_0}^r \frac{v(r) - v(s)}{s^{-3/2} \sqrt{r_c - s}} \frac{r_c - s}{s^2} \, 2R(s) \, ds \right| \\ &\leq c_1 + c_2 \int_{r_0}^r |R(s)| \, ds. \end{aligned}$$

Here inequality one uses that $||u||_{\infty} = ||1||_{\infty} = 1$ and $||v||_{\infty} = 1$. Inequality two holds with $c_1 := |\alpha| + |\beta|$ and with $c_2 = 1$. Set $I := [r_0, r_c)$ to estimate

$$2\sup_{r\in I}(r-r_0)\sup_{s\in I}\frac{|v(r)|+|v(s)|}{\sqrt{s}}\sqrt{r_c-s} \le 2\frac{r_c}{2}\frac{2\|v\|_{\infty}}{\sqrt{r_0}}\sqrt{r_c/2} = 2r_c \ll 1 =: c_2.$$

Since c_1 , c_2 are constants, a special case of Gronwall gives

$$|R(r)| \le c_1 e^{c_2(r-r_0)} \le c_1 e^{r_c/2}.$$

² Constants are clearly solutions. Equation (4.21) for b = 0 and $g := \dot{R}$ takes on the form $\dot{g} = -g/2(r_c - r) - 3g/2r$. The Ansatz $g := f\sqrt{r_c - r}$ gives the equation $\dot{f} = -3f/2r$ whose solution is $f(r) = r^{-3/2}$. Integrate $g = r^{-3/2}\sqrt{r_c - r}$ to get the solution v of (4.21) for b = 0.

for $r \in [r_0, r_c)$. Thus any solution *R* of (4.21) on $[r_0, r_c)$ is uniformly bounded, thus L^2 . By Remark 4.3 this proves part b) of Proposition 4.2.

4.2 Equation for *R*—non-zero angular momentum $\ell \neq 0$

For non-zero angular momentum already the classical solutions behave not nicely inside the critical radius, they spiral into the origin singularity, cf. Theorem 2.1. In this subsection we restrict again to the region inside the critical radius $r_c := \frac{1}{c^2}$, in symbols $r \in (0, r_c)$.

Recall that separating the equal charge Schrödinger equation (3.10), Ansatz $\psi = R(r)Y(\phi)$, leads to equation (4.13) for *R*, namely

$$ER = \frac{\partial_r \left(\frac{r^{\frac{2}{2}}}{\sqrt{r_c - r}} \partial_r R\right)}{2\sqrt{r(r_c - r)}} + \frac{1}{r} R + \frac{\ell}{r^2} R$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \frac{r}{r_c - r} \ddot{R} + \left(\frac{3}{4} \frac{1}{r_c - r} + \frac{1}{4} \frac{r}{(r_c - r)^2}\right) \dot{R} + \frac{1}{r} R + \frac{\ell}{r^2} R$$
(4.24)

for $r \in (0, r_c)$. Here $\ell = k^2/2$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$; cf. (3.12). Alternatively, the equation is

$$\left(pR\right)^{\cdot} + qR = wER \tag{4.25}$$

for functions R on $(0, r_c)$ and where \dot{c} denotes $\frac{d}{dr}$ and with

$$w = 2\sqrt{r(r_c - r)}, \qquad q = \frac{w}{r}\left(1 + \frac{\ell}{r}\right), \qquad p = \frac{r^{\frac{3}{2}}}{\sqrt{r_c - r}}.$$

Note that $\frac{w}{r} = 2\sqrt{\frac{r_c - r}{r}}$.

The main result of this Sect. 4.2 is the

Proposition 4.4 (Non-zero angular momentum – limit circle on $(0, r_c)$) The singular Sturm–Liouville problem given by the 1-dimensional Weber Schrödinger equation (4.27) on the interval $(0, r_c)$ is

a) limit circle at the left origin boundary singularity 0;

b) limit circle at the right critical radius boundary singularity r_c .

Proof a) Sect. 4.2.1. b) Sect. 4.2.2.

4.2.1 Type 'limit circle' at the origin ($\rho = \infty$)

In the following we show that for non-zero angular momentum ($\ell \neq 0$) the singular Sturm-Liouville problem (4.24) on (0, r_c), equivalently (4.25), is of type *limit circle* at the boundary singularity x = 0. By Remark 4.3 it suffices to consider the case E = 0.

SETUP (CASE E = 0). Equation (4.24), multiplied by $\frac{2(r_c - r)}{r}$, becomes

$$\ddot{R} + \left(\frac{3}{2}\frac{1}{r} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{r_c - r}\right)\dot{R} + 2\frac{r_c - r}{r^2}R + 2\frac{\ell(r_c - r)}{r^3}R = 0$$
(4.26)

or, equivalently, after reordering we get the ode

$$\ddot{R} + \frac{3}{2r}\dot{R} + \frac{2r_c}{r^2}R + \frac{2r_c\ell}{r^3}R = -\frac{1}{2(r_c - r)}\dot{R} + 2\left(\frac{1}{r} + \frac{\ell}{r^2}\right)R$$
(4.27)

for functions R on $(0, r_c)$ and where $\ell = k^2/2$ for a given $k \in \mathbb{N}$; see (3.12). It is useful to change variables. Recall that $r_c := 1/c^2$. Suppose R satisfies (4.27). Then in the new variable

$$\rho: (0, r_c) \to (c^2, \infty), \quad r \mapsto 1/r$$

the function given by $f(\rho) := R(r(\rho))$ satisfies the ode³

$$f'' + \frac{1}{2\rho}f' + \frac{2r_c}{\rho^2}f + \frac{2r_c\ell}{\rho}f = \underbrace{\frac{1}{2\rho^2}\frac{1}{(\frac{\rho}{c^2} - 1)}f' + \frac{2}{\rho^3}f + \frac{2\ell}{\rho^2}f}_{=:b(\rho)}$$
(4.28)

for $\rho \in (c^2, \infty)$ and where $\ell = k^2/2$ for a given $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

STEP 1 (HOMOGENEOUS EQUATION). To solve (4.28) for b = 0 suppose f is a solution. The Ansatz $f(\rho) = \rho^{\alpha} w(\rho)$ with $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ leads to the ode

$$w'' + \left(2\alpha + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{w'}{\rho} + \left(\underbrace{(\alpha(\alpha-1) + \frac{\alpha}{2} + 2r_c)}_{=\alpha(\alpha-\frac{1}{2})} + 2\ell r_c\frac{w}{\rho} = 0$$

for $\rho \in (c^2, \infty)$. For $\alpha = -\frac{1}{4}$ the coefficient of w' vanishes and we get the ode

$$w'' + \left(\frac{3}{16} + 2r_c\right)\frac{w}{\rho^2} + 2\ell r_c \frac{w}{\rho} = 0$$

for functions $w = w(\rho)$ with $\rho \in (c^2, \infty)$. This ode is of the form

$$w'' + \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{4\rho} + \frac{1 - \nu^2}{4\rho^2}\right)w = 0, \qquad \lambda^2 = 8\ell r_c = \left(\frac{2k}{c}\right)^2, \quad \nu^2 = \frac{1 - 32r_c}{4} \quad (4.29)$$

where $k \in \mathbb{N}$ by (3.12). Solutions are given by $w(\rho) = \rho^{\frac{1}{2}} C_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}})$, see [2, 9.1.51 p. 362], where for C_{ν} one can choose e.g. Bessel functions J_{ν} or Weber functions⁴ Y_{ν} ,

³ Indeed $\dot{R} = \frac{d}{dr}R(r) = \frac{d}{dr}f(\rho(r)) = f'(\rho)\frac{d}{dr}\rho(r) = -\rho^2 f'(\rho)$ and $\ddot{R} = \rho^4 f'' + 2\rho^3 f'$.

⁴ Heinrich Martin Weber (1842–1913)

formulas for which are given in [2, 9.1.2 and 9.1.10–11]. So

$$\tilde{u} := \rho^{\frac{1}{2}} J_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}), \qquad \tilde{v} := \rho^{\frac{1}{2}} Y_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}})$$

are two solutions of (4.29).

Due to our Ansatz $f = \rho^{-\frac{1}{4}} w$ two solutions of (4.28) for b = 0 are given by

$$u := \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} J_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}), \quad v := \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} Y_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}), \qquad \lambda = \frac{2k}{c}, \quad v = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{1 - \frac{32}{c^2}} \stackrel{\approx}{<} \frac{1}{2} \quad (4.30)$$

where $k \in \mathbb{N}$; see (3.12). The Wronskian of *u* and *v* is given by

$$W(\rho) := W(u, v)|_{\rho} := uv' - u'v = \frac{\lambda}{2} W(J_{\nu}, Y_{\nu})|_{\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}} = \frac{1}{\pi \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$

Step one is calculation, step two uses that $W(J_{\nu}, Y_{\nu})|_{s} = \frac{2}{\pi s}$ by [2, 9.1.16]. STEP 2 (INHOMOGENEOUS EQUATION). Let $\rho_{0} := 2c^{2} \in (c^{2}, \infty)$. Given constants $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ and from (4.30) the solutions u, v of the homogeneous (b = 0) version of (4.28), then the solution f to equation (4.28) with initial conditions

$$f(1) = \alpha u(1) + \beta v(1), \qquad f'(1) = \alpha u'(1) + \beta v'(1) \tag{4.31}$$

is given for $\rho \in [2c^2, \infty)$ by the formula (see e.g. [9, Exc. IV.5.3 p.81])

$$\begin{split} f(\rho) &:= \alpha u(\rho) + \beta v(\rho) + \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \frac{u(s)v(\rho) - u(\rho)v(s)}{W(s)} b(s) \, ds \\ &= \alpha \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} J_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) + \beta \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} Y_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) \\ &+ \pi \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} Y_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} s^{\frac{3}{4}} J_{\nu}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}}) \left(\frac{f'(s)}{2s^2(\frac{s}{c^2} - 1)} + \frac{2 + 2\ell s}{s^3} f(s) \right) ds \\ &- \pi \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} J_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} s^{\frac{3}{4}} Y_{\nu}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}}) \left(\frac{f'(s)}{2s^2(\frac{s}{c^2} - 1)} + \frac{2 + 2\ell s}{s^3} f(s) \right) ds \\ &= \alpha \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} J_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) + \beta \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} Y_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) \\ &+ 2\pi \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} J_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) + \beta \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} Y_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) \\ &+ 2\pi \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} J_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \frac{(1 + \ell s) J_{\nu}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}})}{s^{3-\frac{3}{4}}} f(s) \, ds \\ &- 2\pi \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} J_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \frac{(1 + \ell s) Y_{\nu}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}})}{s^{3-\frac{3}{4}}} f(s) \, ds \\ &+ \frac{\pi}{2} \rho^{\frac{1}{4}} \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \frac{Y_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) J_{\nu}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}}) - Y_{\nu}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}}) J_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}})}{s^{\frac{5}{4}}(\frac{s}{c^2} - 1)} f'(s) \, ds \end{split}$$

We wish to show that every solution R of (4.27) is L^2 near the origin, say on $(0, r_0] \subset (0, r_c)$ where $r_0 := \frac{1}{\rho_0} = \frac{1}{2}r_c$. For $r(\rho) = \frac{1}{\rho}$ and $f(\rho) := R(r(\rho))$ we get

$$\int_0^{r_0} R(r)^2 dr = \int_{\rho_0}^\infty \frac{f(\rho)^2}{\rho^2} d\rho = \int_{\rho_0}^\infty F(\rho)^2 d\rho, \qquad F(\rho) := \frac{|f(\rho)|}{\rho}.$$
 (4.33)

To show finiteness of the integral in (4.33) we need to estimate (4.32) and for this it is crucial to understand boundedness and, more crucially, decay behavior of the Bessel functions J_{ν} and their cousins Y_{ν} . People not familiar with them might wish to have a look at their graphs, for instance in the appropriate Wiki, to see that these resemble cosine and sine functions with some decay factor – which actually is $1/\sqrt{\rho} = 1/\rho^{\frac{2}{4}}$. It is this exponent of the decay factor which translates in (4.36) into a power *smaller* than 1/2 in $\rho^{1/4}$ which is necessary to have $\beta(\rho)$ be *integrable* on (ρ_0, ∞) . So in the end γ in (4.37) is indeed finite.

Remark 4.5 (Boundedness and decay of Bessel functions) Recall that $\nu \approx \frac{1}{2}$, see (4.30). Hence assertion (i) holds by [2, 9.1.60 p. 362].

(i) $|J_{\nu}| \le 1$ on $[0, \infty)$. As (c^2, ∞) is far out, $|J_{\nu}|$ is very small by [2, 9.2.5]. (ii) $|Y_{\nu}| \le 1$ on $(c^2, \infty) = (\frac{1}{r_c}, \infty)^5$: By [2, 9.1.2 & 9.1.62] we get that

$$|Y_{\nu}(\rho)| = \left| J_{\nu}(\rho) \frac{\cos(\nu\pi)}{\sin(\nu\pi)} - J_{-\nu}(\rho) \right|$$

$$\leq \cot(\nu\pi) + \frac{2^{\nu}}{c^{2\nu} \Gamma(1-\nu)}$$

$$\leq \cot(\nu\pi) + \frac{1}{c^{\nu}} =: c_{Y}$$

We used for the Γ function that $\Gamma(1-\nu) \approx \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) > 1$. In fact $c_Y > 0$ is very close to zero: Indeed $c^{\nu} \approx \sqrt{3} \cdot 10^4$ and $\nu \pi$ is smaller but very close to $x = \frac{\pi}{2}$ where cosine is zero and sine is one.

(iii) Asymptotic decay $J_{\nu}(\rho), Y_{\nu}(\rho) \sim 1/\rho^{\frac{2}{4}}$ as $\rho \to \infty$. By [2, 9.2.1] we get

$$J_{\nu}(\rho) \in \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi\rho}} \left(\cos(\rho - \frac{\nu\pi}{2} - \frac{\pi}{4}) + O(\frac{1}{\rho}) \right).$$
(4.34)

For Y_{ν} use sine. By definition there are constants ρ_1 , $C_1 > 1$ such that

$$|J_{\nu}(\rho)| \le \frac{C_1}{\rho^{\frac{2}{4}}} \left| \cos(\rho - \frac{\nu\pi}{2} - \frac{\pi}{4}) + \frac{1}{\rho} \right| \le \frac{C_1}{\rho^{\frac{2}{4}}}$$

for every $\rho \ge \rho_1$ and similarly for Y_{ν} (using sine and same constant names). In the second inequality one might have to enlarge the constants.

⁵ Near the origin 0 the function Y_{ν} explodes towards $-\infty$.

We use the bounds (i-ii), the crucial one (iii), and (4.32) to get the estimate

$$\frac{|f(\rho)|}{\rho} \leq \frac{|\alpha| + |\beta|}{\rho^{\frac{3}{4}}} + \frac{4\pi C_1}{\rho^{\frac{3}{4}}} \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \left(\frac{|f(s)|}{s^{\frac{9}{4}}} + \frac{\ell |f(s)|}{s^{\frac{5}{4}+\frac{2}{4}}}\right) ds
+ \frac{\pi}{2\rho^{\frac{3}{4}}} \left| \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \left(\frac{J_{\nu}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}})}{s^{\frac{5}{4}}(\frac{s}{c^2} - 1)} f'(s) \right) ds \right|
+ \frac{\pi}{2\rho^{\frac{3}{4}}} \left| \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \left(\frac{Y_{\nu}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}})}{s^{\frac{5}{4}}(\frac{s}{c^2} - 1)} f'(s) \right) ds \right|$$
(4.35)

for every $\rho \in [\rho_0, \infty)$. Next we carry out partial integration for one of the two terms in (4.35), say the J_{ν} term, the Y_{ν} term being analogous and leading to exactly the same estimate. Note that $s \ge \rho_0$ implies $\frac{s}{c^2} - 1 \ge \frac{\rho_0}{c^2} - 1 = 2 - 1$. Partial integration, the unit bound $|J_{\nu}| \le 1$, and the crucial decay (iii) tell that

$$\begin{split} g(\rho) &:= \left| \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \left(\frac{J_{\nu}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}})}{s^{\frac{5}{4}}(\frac{s}{c^2} - 1)} f'(s) \right) ds \right| \\ &= \left| \frac{J_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) f(\rho)}{\rho^{\frac{5}{4}}(\frac{\rho}{c^2} - 1)} - \frac{J_{\nu}(\lambda \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}) f(\rho_0)}{\rho^{\frac{5}{4}}} \right. \\ &+ \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \frac{J_{\nu}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}}) \left(\frac{5}{4} s^{\frac{1}{4}}(\frac{s}{c^2} - 1) + s^{\frac{5}{4}} \right)}{s^{\frac{5}{2}}(\frac{s}{c^2} - 1)^2} f(s) \, ds \\ &- \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \frac{J_{\nu}'(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}}) \frac{\lambda}{2\sqrt{s}} s^{\frac{5}{4}}(\frac{s}{c^2} - 1)}{s^{\frac{5}{2}}(\frac{s}{c^2} - 1)^2} f(s) \, ds \right| \\ &\leq \left(\frac{|f(\rho_0|}{c^2} + \frac{|f(\rho)|}{\rho^{\frac{5}{4}}} + C_1 \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \frac{|f(s)|}{s^{\frac{5}{4} + \frac{2}{4}}} \, ds \, + \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \frac{|J_{\nu}'(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}})| \cdot \frac{|f(s)|}{s^{\frac{7}{4}}} \, ds \right). \end{split}$$

Indeed, by the recurrence relation in [2, 9.1.27] and since $|J_{\mu}| \leq 1$ on $[0, \infty)$ for $\mu \geq 0$ by [2, 9.1.60], we get for $s \geq \rho_0 = 2c^2$ and with $\lambda = 2k/c$ that

$$|J_{\nu}'(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}})| = \left|-J_{\nu+1}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}}) + \frac{\nu}{\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}}}J_{\nu}(\lambda s^{\frac{1}{2}})\right| \le 1 + \frac{\nu}{(2k/c)\sqrt{2c}} < 1 + \frac{1}{4}.$$

Hence for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we obtain the estimate

$$g(\rho) \le \frac{|f(\rho_0)|}{c^2} + \frac{|f(\rho)|}{\rho^{\frac{5}{4}}} + \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \left(C_1 + \frac{2k}{c}\right) \frac{|f(s)|}{s^{\frac{5}{4} + \frac{2}{4}}} \, ds$$

for every $\rho \ge \rho_0 = 2c^2 \gg 2\pi$. Set $\gamma_0/2 := |\alpha| + |\beta| + |f(\rho_0)|$ to finally get

$$\frac{|f(\rho)|}{\rho} \le \frac{\gamma_0}{2\rho^{\frac{3}{4}}} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{|f(\rho)|}{\rho} + \frac{2\pi C_1(1+k+k^2)}{\rho^{\frac{3}{4}}} \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \frac{|f(s)|}{s^{\frac{5}{4}+\frac{2}{4}}} ds$$

and therefore

$$F(\rho) := \frac{|f(\rho)|}{\rho} \le \frac{\gamma_0}{\rho^{\frac{3}{4}}} + \frac{12\pi C_1 k^2}{\rho^{\frac{3}{4}}} \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho} \frac{|f(s)|}{s^{\frac{5}{4} + \frac{2}{4}}} ds$$

for every $\rho \ge \rho_0$. Set $c_k := (12\pi C_1 k^2)^2$ and square the expression to obtain

$$F(\rho)^{2} \leq \frac{2\gamma_{0}^{2}}{\rho^{\frac{3}{2}}} + \frac{2c_{k}}{\rho^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left(\int_{\rho_{0}}^{\rho} \frac{1}{s^{\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{4}}} \cdot F(s) \, ds \right)^{2}$$

$$\leq \underbrace{\frac{2\gamma_{0}^{2}}{\rho^{\frac{3}{2}}}}_{=:h(\rho)} + \underbrace{8c_{k} \frac{\rho^{\frac{1}{4}} - \rho_{0}^{\frac{1}{4}}}{\rho^{\frac{3}{2}}}}_{=:\beta(\rho)} \int_{\rho_{0}}^{\rho} F(s)^{2} \, ds$$
(4.36)

for every $\rho \ge \rho_0$. The second inequality is by Cauchy-Schwarz. Define

$$||F||_{p}(t) := \left(\int_{\rho_{0}}^{t} F(s)^{p} \, ds\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

for $p \ge 1$ and $t \ge \rho_0$. Integrate (4.36) to obtain the estimate

$$\underbrace{\|F\|_{2}(t)^{2}}_{=:U(t)} := \int_{\rho_{0}}^{t} F(\rho)^{2} d\rho \leq \underbrace{\|h\|_{1}(t)}_{\leq \alpha} + \int_{\rho_{0}}^{t} \beta(\rho) \underbrace{\|F\|_{2}(\rho)^{2}}_{U(\rho)} d\rho$$

for every $t \ge \rho_0$ and where $\alpha := \|h\|_{L^1(\rho_0,\infty)} < \infty$. So by Gronwall's lemma

$$\underbrace{\|F\|_2(t)^2}_{=U(t)} \le \alpha \exp\left(\int_{\rho_0}^t \beta(s) \, ds\right) \le \alpha \exp\left(\int_{\rho_0}^\infty \beta(s) \, ds\right) := \gamma < \infty \tag{4.37}$$

for any $t \ge \rho_0$. The constant γ is finite, because the integral $\int_{\rho_0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s^{5/4}} ds < \infty$ is. Thus $\gamma \ge \|F\|_{L^2(\rho_0,\infty)}^2 = \|R\|_{L^2(0,r_0)}^2$ by (4.33). This proves that any solution *R* of (4.27) on $(0, r_c)$, independent of the choice of initial conditions (cf. (4.31)), is L^2 near the boundary singularity 0. By Remark 4.3 this proves a) in Proposition 4.4.

4.2.2 Type 'limit circle' at the critical radius

To prove Proposition 4.4 b) it suffices to treat the case E = 0 by Remark 4.3.

SETUP (CASE E = 0). Reorder (4.27) to get the ode

$$\ddot{R} + \frac{1}{2(r_c - r)} \dot{R} + \frac{3}{2r} \dot{R} = \underbrace{-\frac{(r_c - r)(r + \ell)}{r^3} 2R}_{=:b(r)}$$
(4.38)

for functions *R* on $[r_0, r_c)$ where $r_0 := \frac{r_c}{2}$ and where $\ell = k^2/2$ for a given $k \in \mathbb{N}$; see (3.12). For $\ell = 0$ the ode reduces to (4.21) which we had solved for b = 0. STEP 1 (HOMOGENEOUS EQUATION). We already solved equation (4.38) for b = 0. Recall that solutions are $u \equiv 1$ and v in (4.22), that $|v| \le 1$, and that their Wronskian is $W(r) = r^{-3/2}\sqrt{r_c - r}$.

STEP 2 (INHOMOGENEOUS EQUATION). Given constants $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, the solution *R* to (4.21) with initial conditions

$$R(r_0) = \alpha u(r_0) + \beta v(r_0), \qquad \dot{R}(r_0) = \alpha \dot{u}(r_0) + \beta \dot{v}(r_0)$$
(4.39)

is given for $r \in [r_0, r_c)$ by the definition in (4.19). On $[r_0, r_c)$ we estimate

$$\begin{aligned} |R(r)| &\leq |\alpha| + |\beta| + \left| \int_{r_0}^r \frac{v(r) - v(s)}{s^{-3/2}\sqrt{r_c - s}} \frac{(r_c - s)(s + \ell)}{s^3} \, 2R(s) \, ds \right| \\ &\leq c_1 + c_2 \int_{r_0}^r |R(s)| \, ds. \end{aligned}$$

Here inequality one uses that $||u||_{\infty} = ||1||_{\infty} = 1$ and $||v||_{\infty} = 1$. Inequality two holds with $c_1 := |\alpha| + |\beta|$ and $c_2 := 2r_c$. To get c_2 let $I := [r_0, r_c)$, note that

$$2\sup_{r\in I}(r-r_0)\sup_{s\in I}\frac{|v(r)|+|v(s)|}{s^{3/2}}\sqrt{r_c-s}(s+\ell) \le 2\frac{r_c}{2}\frac{2\|v\|_{\infty}}{r_0^{3/2}}\sqrt{\frac{r_c}{2}}(r_c+\ell) \le 4(1+\ell) =: c_2.$$

Since c_1, c_2 are constants, a special case of Gronwall gives

$$|R(r)| \le c_1 e^{c_2(r-r_0)} \le c_1 e^{c_2 r_c/2} = c_1 e^{2(1+\ell)/c^2}.$$

for $r \in [r_0, r_c)$. Thus any solution *R* of (4.21) on $[r_0, r_c)$ is uniformly bounded, thus L^2 . By Remark 4.3 this proves part b) of Proposition 4.4.

Acknowledgements In February 2020 the Advanced School "Symplectic Topology meets Celestial and Quantum Mechanics via Weber Electrodynamics", organized by the second author at UNICAMP, see [19] and Youtube Videos, brought together researchers from pure mathematics and theoretical physics teaching one another topics connecting to the amazing action-at-a-distance force law of Wilhelm Weber. Section 2 on classical motion arose in discussion with Kai Cieliebak whom we sincerely thank for his generous contribution. The paper profited a lot from discussions with André Assis and Stefan Suhr whom we sincerely thank. This article has its origin in that school and was largely written during the stay in March 2020 of the second author at Universität Augsburg that he would like to thank for hospitality. The first author acknowledges financial support by DFG grant FR 2637/2-2. It is a pleasure for the second author to acknowledge support and generous funding by Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo

(FAPESP), processo n° 2017/19725-6, for his research, in the present article the powerful theory of Wilhelm Weber on Electrodynamics.

Author Contributions Both authors contributed equally.

Funding Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declare no competing interests.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Amrein, W.O., Hinz, A.M., Pearson, D.B.: editors. Sturm–Liouville theory. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2005. Past and present, Including papers from the International Colloquium held at the University of Geneva, Geneva, September 15–19 (2003)
- Abramowitz, M., Stegun, I.A.: Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables, vol. 55 of National Bureau of Standards Applied Mathematics Series. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1964. Tenth Printing, December (1972), with corrections
- Assis, A.K.T.: Weber's Electrodynamics. Springer, Dordrecht (1994). Author's website: www.ifi. unicamp.br/~assis/
- Assis, A.K.T.: Karl Heinrich Wiederkehr, and Gudrun Wolfschmidt. Weber's Planetary Model of the Atom. Tredition, Hamburg (2011)
- Assis, A.K.T., Wiederkehr, K.H., Wolfschmidt, G.: Weber's Planeten-Modell des Atoms. Apeiron, Montreal (2018). Available at www.ifi.unicamp.br/~assis
- Frauenfelder, U., Weber, J.: The fine structure of Weber's hydrogen atom: Bohr–Sommerfeld approach. Z. für Angew. Math. Phys. 70(4), 105–116 (2019). SharedIt
- Gutzwiller, M.C.: Chaos in Classical and Quantum Mechanics. Interdisciplinary Applied Mathematics, vol. 1. Springer, New York (1990)
- Konrad, J., Franz, R.: Eigenwerttheorie gewöhnlicher Differentialgleichungen. Springer, Berlin: Überarbeitete und ergänzte Fassung der Vorlesungsausarbeitung "Eigenwerttheorie partieller Differentialgleichungen, Teil 1" von Franz Rellich (Wintersemester 1952/53). Bearbeitet von J, Weidmann, Hochschultext (1976)
- Krall, A.M.: Applied Analysis. Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 31. D. Reidel Publishing Co., Dordrecht (1986)
- Kauffman, R.M., Read, T.T., Zettl, A.: The Deficiency Index Problem for Powers of Ordinary Differential Expressions. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 621. Springer, Berlin (1977)
- Olver, F.W.J.: Asymptotics and Special Functions. Academic Press [A subsidiary of Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], New York, London, (1974). Computer Science and Applied Mathematics
- Stone, M.H.: Linear Transformations in Hilbert Space. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, vol. 15. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI (1932)
- 13. Teschl, G.: Ordinary Differential Equations and Dynamical Systems, vol. 140 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. Online edition, authorized by American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI (2012)
- Titchmarsh, E.C.: Eigenfunction Expansions Associated with Second-Order Differential Equations. Oxford, at the Clarendon Press (1946)

- Weber, W.: Elektrodynamische Maassbestimmungen. Annalen der Physik, 73:193–240, 1848. English translation: On the measurement of electro-dynamic forces, in Scientific Memoirs, R. Taylor (ed.), Johnson Reprint Corporation, New York, vol. 5, 489–529 (1966)
- Weber, W.: Elektrodynamische Maassbestimmungen insbesondere über das Princip der Erhaltung der Energie. Abhandlungen der Königl. Sächs. Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften, 10:1–61, 1871. Reprinted in Wilhelm Weber's Werke (Springer, Berlin, 1894), Vol. 4, pp. 247–299
- 17. Weber, W.: Handschriftlicher Nachlass. In: Wilhelm Weber's Werke: Vierter Band Galvanismus und Elektrodynamik, vol. 4, pp. 478–525. Springer, Berlin (1894)
- Weber, W.: Ueber einen einfachen Ausspruch des allgemeinen Grundgesetzes der elektrischen Wirkung. In: Wilhelm Weber's Werke: Vierter Band Galvanismus und Elektrodynamik, vol. 4, pp. 243–246. Springer, Berlin (1894)
- Weber, J.: Advanced School "Symplectic Topology meets Celestial and Quantum Mechanics via Weber Electrodynamics" 17–21 February 2020 at UNICAMP. Freedom and Science www.youtube.com/ channel/UCOIeUkMqXstDrJKAsn11UgA
- Weyl, H.: Über gewöhnliche Differentialgleichungen mit Singularitäten und die zugehörigen Entwicklungen willkürlicher Funktionen. Math. Ann. 68(2), 220–269 (1910)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.